#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-WC-01434

## AMERISTAR CASINO-VICKSBURG EMPLOYER/APPELLANT

AND

LEGION INSURANCE COMPANY CARRIER/APPELLANT

VS.

JAMES RAWLS CLAIMANT/APPELLEE

Appeal From The Circuit Court of Warren County, Mississippi

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT** 

F. Hall Bailey
Kathryn H. Hester
WATKINS LUDLAM WINTER & STENNIS, P.A.
633 North State Street
Post Office Box 427
Jackson, Mississippi 39205-0427
(601) 949-4900
ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANTS
AMERISTAR CASINO-VICKSBURG
AND LEGION INSURANCE COMPANY

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Is the Full Commission's finding that James Rawls met his burden of proof in establishing his entitlement to an award of permanent total disability benefits under the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Act based upon substantial evidence in view of Rawls' failure to undertake reasonable efforts to gain employment in similar or other vocations after reaching maximum medical improvement and being released to return to work within certain work restrictions?
- 2. Is the Full Commission's finding that James Rawls met his burden of proof in establishing his entitlement to an award of permanent total disability benefits under the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Act based upon substantial evidence in view of Rawls' failure to accept the job offered to him by his Employer, Ameristar Casino, which met the work restrictions placed upon him by his treating physicians after he had been released to return to work?
- 3. Is the Full Commission's finding that James Rawls met his burden of proof in establishing a loss of wage earning capacity under the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Act based upon substantial evidence in view of Rawls' failure to undertake reasonable efforts to gain employment in similar or other vocations after reaching maximum medical improvement and being released to return to work within certain work restrictions:
- 4. Is the Full Commission's finding that James Rawls met his burden of proof in establishing a loss of wage earning capacity under the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Act not based upon substantial evidence in view of Rawls' failure to accept the job offered to him by his Employer, Ameristar Casino, which met the work restrictions placed upon him by his treating physicians after he had been released to return to work;
- 5. Did the Full Commission err as a matter of law in adopting the Administrative Judge's finding that "common sense tells one" that James Rawls was unemployable based upon his intake of pain medication?
- 6. Did the Full Commission's err as a matter of law in finding that James Rawls was permanently and totally disabled?
- 7. Are the Full Commission's findings concerning the existence, nature and extent of Claimant's permanent disability attributable to his work related injury supported by substantial evidence?

- 8. Did the Full Commission err as a matter of law in finding that James Rawls suffered a loss of wage earning capacity as a result of his work related injury
- 9. Is the Full Commission's finding concerning James Rawls' purported loss of wage earning capacity based upon substantial evidence?
- 10. Did the Full Commission err as a matter of law in finding that James Rawls met his burden of proof in establishing his entitlement to an award of permanent total disability benefits under the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Act?

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Course of Proceedings and Disposition in Commission Below

On July 31, 2000, the Claimant, James Rawls, ("Rawls" or "Claimant") suffered injury to his lower back while working at the Ameristar Casino in Vicksburg, Mississippi.

On February 22, 2001, Rawls' treating orthopedic physician, Dr. Brian Bulloch, released Rawls for light work based on a February 6, 2001, Functional Capacity Evaluation ("FCE").

On April 23, 2001, Rawls filed the Petition to Controvert alleging that he had a 25% impairment, as a result of his work related injury, according to Dr. Bulloch.

On May 21, 2001, the Employer and Carrier (hereinafter referred to collectively as "Ameristar") filed an Answer, admitting that the injury occurred, but denying the allegations related to temporary and permanent disability and Rawls' claim that he suffered a loss of wage earning capacity as a result of the injury.

On March 24, 2003, a hearing in this matter was held at the MWCC building in Jackson, Mississippi.

On August 22, 2003, the Administrative Judge issued an Opinion in which she referred Rawls for an independent medical examination ("IME") to be conducted by Dr. Rahul Vohra.

On December 1, 2003, Dr. Vohra performed the IME and issued a five-page report which recommended further studies to definitively rule out the presence of a recurrent disc herniation.

On June 14, 2004, the Administrative Judge issued a Second Opinion, ordering the Claimant to undergo the additional workup recommended by Dr. Vohra in his December 1, 2003, report.

On June 28, 2004, Dr. Vohra performed the additional testing consistent with the ALJ's Order.

On July 7, 2004, Dr. Vohra prepared a Clinic Note that addressed the findings noted from the additional test and recommended a Functional Capacity Evaluation to delineate restrictions.

On October 26, 2004, Dr. Vohra noted that Rawls' FCE placed him at a light level of work, a finding with which he concurred.

On September 16, 2005, the Administrative Judge issued her final Opinion, the Second Supplemental Opinion, finding that the Claimant was permanently and totally disabled as a result of his work related injury because "common sense tells one that no employer will hire someone who is taking narcotic pain medication coupled with muscle relaxers and membrane stabilizers."

On October 6, 2005, Ameristar timely filed its Notice of Appeal to the Full Commission for review of that Order.

On April 18, 2006, the Full Commission, issued a short two-paragraph Order affirming the "Second Supplemental Opinion of the Administrative Judge dated September 16, 2005."

On May 18, 2006, the Ameristar filed a timely appeal to the Circuit Court of Warren County, Mississippi.

On June 14, 2007 the Circuit Court of Warren County, Mississippi issued its Order affirming the Order of the Mississippi Worker's Compensation Commission.

On June 21, 2007 Ameristar timely filed its Notice of Appeal to this Court.

#### B. Statement of Facts

The Claimant, a resident of Winnsboro, Louisiana, suffered an injury to his lower back on July 31, 2000, while in the course and scope of his employment as a slot technician with Ameristar Casino. After an MRI exam revealed a disc protrusion at the L4-5 level, Rawls was referred to Dr. Brian Bulloch with the Orthopaedic Clinic of Monroe (LA), who performed surgery on Rawls on September 20, 2000. undergoing follow-up care and physical therapy, Dr. Bulloch noted in his office notes that the Claimant had reached maximum medical improvement on February 6, 2001. Rawls was referred for a Functional Capacity Evaluation for his work restrictions following surgery. This report was completed on February 22, 2001, and indicated that the Claimant had a 23% impairment rating to the body as a whole. According to Dr. Bulloch's notes, the FCE restrictions indicated that Rawls should not be asked to sit or stand for longer than 45 minutes to an hour at a time, without being able to change position, and that Rawls was limited to "light duty." [3-1-01 notes]. Light duty, according to Dr. Bulloch, limited Rawls to lifting a maximum of twenty pounds. [Bulloch, pp.15-16, Vol. 1 of 11'

The Administrative Law Judge referred Rawls to Dr. Rahul Vohra, whose Independent Medical Examination report and additional testing were performed in December 2003 and June 2004, thirty-three and forty months respectively after the first

Reference is either to the Hearing Transcript using the number at the bottom of the page (Tr. P. \_\_\_), or to the depositions which were made part of the record [Bulloch, p. \_\_] or [Vohra, p. \_].

FCE, per the ALJ's Order. In response to the ALJ's specific questions, Dr. Vohra was of the opinion that Rawls suffered a 10% impairment as a result of the work related injury, that he could stand or sit for an hour at a time at which time he would need to change positions; that he could squat, bend, or stoop up to one third of the day, he could climb stairs a few times a day, lift 20 lbs occasionally from floor to waist and waist to shoulder, 15 lbs shoulder to overhead, carry 15 lbs, push 40 lbs and pull 10 lbs occasionally. [Vohra, p. 29]. Vohra found that continued management of Rawls' pain with medications was reasonable [Vohra, p. 21] and that Rawls could do any job that met these restrictions. [Vohra, p. 16].

At the hearing of this matter, Leesha Heard, Corporate Risk Manager for Ameristar Casino, testified that Ameristar Casino offered Rawls a job to return to their employment after he was released by Dr. Bulloch. This job offer was for the position of transportation dispatcher, which had no job lifting requirements and allowed the employee to stand and sit at will. (Tr. P. 48-49). Accordingly, the job met the physical restrictions placed upon Rawls by the February 22, 2001 Functional Capacity Evaluation Report.

Heard further testified that the dispatcher job offered to Rawls paid the same wages that he was earning while employed as a slot technician. (Tr. P. 49). According to Heard, the dispatcher job required no training. All the employee had to do was be able to talk on a radio, like the one used by the slot technicians where you would push a button and talk into a microphone, or use the telephone. The dispatcher was able to sit and stand at his pleasure while operating the radio and using the telephone. (Tr. P. 49-50).

In response to a question related to whether Ameristar's policy would allow Rawls to work and take pain medications, Heard responded that it was up to Rawls' physicians to determine whether Rawls could work while taking Darvocet. (Tr. P. 55).

Rawls, by his own admission, never made an effort to accept the job offer by Ameristar Casino for the position of transportation dispatcher. (Tr. P. 37). Rawls testified that he went by the Ameristar Casino location after being released by Dr. Bulloch to get his 401K proceeds, but he never went down to ask about the transportation dispatcher job or try to accept the job to see if he was able to perform it. (Tr. P. 37-38).

Not only did Rawls not accept or even try the job offered to him by Ameristar, which met the physical restrictions placed upon him within the Functional Capacity Evaluation, he made no legitimate effort to find a job of any kind on his own. The Employer and Carrier propounded to Rawls interrogatories, which included a question asking the Claimant whether or not he had attempted to find employment or work since the date of his work-related accident. Rawls' August 2001 response to this interrogatory, more than a year after the accident, was simply "no." See Response to Interrogatory No. 11, marked as Exhibit "B" for identification. Vol. 1 of 1. His response to the same question ten months later at his deposition was the same. [Rawls Depo, at 37-38, Vol. 1 of 1] When Rawls was questioned at the hearing about this response and his lack of any effort to seek employment, he attempted to change his answer over objection by Ameristar.<sup>2</sup>

Ameristar objected to this proposed testimony on the basis that it was inconsistent with the discovery responses and matters submitted by the Claimant within his pretrial statement. The Administrative Judge chose not to rule on the objection, but simply stated that she would take the matter up when issuing her final opinion in the case. The various opinions handed down by Administrative Judge did

Even when allowed to testify, Rawls' testimony reflects that he made no good faith effort to seek employment after being released to return to work with restrictions. Specifically, he stated that he "tried two different places" asking a couple of friends that have stores if they would let him work. These friends declined because they were "afraid that he would get hurt worse," apparently not because he could not do the job. No mention was made as to what type work this was, who his friends were, or any other details other than that provided above. (Tr. P. 41). Rawls also testified that he had made no formal applications for any job since the date of his accident and being released to return to work. (Tr. P. 41). He said he had not gone around anywhere and applied for a job or sought employment anywhere else other than "talking to his two friends." (Tr. P. 41). He further testified that since talking to his two friends six to eight months prior to the hearing in this matter, which would place these conversations sometime between July 2002 and September 2002, he had made no further efforts to obtain employment. (Tr. P. 41-42). Rawls further testified that at no time prior to, or after, these conversations with his two friends had he made any effort to locate employment or otherwise apply for a job. (Tr. P. 42).

#### II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Administrative Law Judge, summarily affirmed by the Full Commission, ignored Rawls' burden of proving loss of wage earning capacity and made two unsupportable conclusions which are errors as a matter of law. With absolutely no supporting evidence, the ALJ found that

not address Rawls' discovery response and the testimony related to new testimony given at the hearing.

- 1. "common sense tells one that no employer will hire someone who is taking narcotic pain medication coupled with muscle relaxers and membrane stabilizers,"
- 2. "it is the opinion of the undersigned that Mr. Rawls simply cannot function in the work force while taking these types of medications."

(September 16, 2005 Order at p. 5, (e)).

Not only is there no record support these findings, but there are uncontroverted facts in opposition to both conclusions. Furthermore, the decision of the Administrative Judge, which was affirmed summarily by the Full Commission, ignored Dr. Vohra's testimony that both his opinion and the FCE took Rawls' pain into account when assessing his functionality – his ability to work. In other words, Rawls' pain and pain medication allowed him to perform light duty work and did not make him unemployable.

In addition, the Full Commission erred as a matter of law in finding that the "sitting and standing" restrictions precluded the Ameristar job offered to Rawls from meeting the requirements of the FCE. There is no evidence to support a finding that there were sitting and standing restrictions which prevented Rawls from performing the job that Ameristar offered him in April 2001. Consequently, that finding is an error as a matter of law and must be reversed.

The Full Commission also ignored the fact that Rawls did not meet his burden of proving a loss of wage earning capacity, which is essential to an award of permanent disability benefits. The claimant is not allowed to avoid meeting this burden by simply putting on proof that he has suffered a permanent physical impairment. Mississippi's courts have held that in order for the claimant to prove that he has suffered a workers' compensation disability he must unequivocally prove a reasonable effort to find other

employment. Rawls offered no such proof. Accordingly, the award of the Full Commission is contrary to the law and not supported by substantial evidence.

#### III. ARGUMENT

Ameristar recognizes that under the familiar standard of review, an appellate court is bound by the decision of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission if the Commission's findings of fact and order are supported by substantial evidence. Fought v. Stuart C. Irby Co., 523 So. 2d 314, 317 (Miss. 1988). That is not the case here. Moreover, under the flip side of that standard, a court will reverse the Commission's order "if it finds that order clearly erroneous and contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence." Hardaway Co. v. Bradley, 887 So. 2d 793, 795 (Miss. 2004). That is the case where as here there is no evidence to support the Administrative Law Judge's findings of fact, and in fact the record evidence overwhelmingly supports a contrary finding. As the Supreme Court has noted

A finding is clearly erroneous when, although there is some slight evidence to support it, the reviewing court on the entire evidence is left with the definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made by the Commission in its findings of fact and in its application of the Act. Weatherspoon v. Croft Metals, Inc. 853 So. 2d 776, 780 (Miss. 2003) (citations omitted)

Hardaway Co. v. Bradley, 887 So. 2d 793, 795 (Miss. 2004).

The Administrative Law Judge, summarily affirmed by the Full Commission, ignored Rawls' burden of proving loss of wage earning capacity and made two unsupportable conclusions which are errors as a matter of law. With absolutely no supporting evidence, the ALJ found that

3. "common sense tells one that no employer will hire someone who is taking narcotic pain medication coupled with muscle relaxers and membrane stabilizers."

4. "it is the opinion of the undersigned that Mr. Rawls simply cannot function in the work force while taking these types of medications." (September 16, 2005 Order at p. 5, (e)).

Not only is there no record support for these findings, but there are uncontroverted facts in opposition to both conclusions.

# A. The Administrative Law Judge Incorrectly Held that Rawls "simply cannot function in the work force while taking [narcotic pain medications]"

The record does not support a finding that Rawls could not function in the work force as a result of taking pain medication, and in fact the record facts are completely opposite. They include:

- 1. Rawls had been taking pain medication since he got hurt in July 2000. (Tr. P. 27).
- 2. Rawls originally took hydrocodone and muscle relaxers for pain [Bulloch, p. 7] but was put on Darvocet beginning in March 2001. [Bulloch 18]
- 3. Darvocet is a mild narcotic pain medication. [Bulloch, p. 16]
- 4. Rawls had been cut back to one Darvocet per day one month prior to the hearing (Tr. P. 27).
- 5. At the time of the hearing, Rawls took one Darvocet each evening around 9:00 p.m. in order to sleep better. (Tr. P. 26).
- 6. Rawls was taking pain medication in 2000 during the three weeks that he drove to Delhi, Louisiana for physical therapy, nearly an hour away.
- 7. Rawls was taking pain medication in 2000 during the six weeks that he drove the twenty minutes to physical therapy in Winnsboro, Louisiana.
- 8. Rawls was taking pain medication in February 2001 when he was given the FCE at Oachita Physical Therapy in Monroe, Louisiana, 56 miles away from his home in Winnsboro, Louisiana.
- 9. Rawls was taking pain medication at each of the thirteen visits he made in 2000 and 2001 to his treating physician, Dr. Brian Bulloch in Monroe, Louisiana, 55 miles from his home in Winnsboro, Louisiana.
- 10. Rawls was released for work on February 21, 2001, by his treating physician Dr. Bulloch following a Functional Capacity Evaluation which

**新聞** 

- recommended Rawls for jobs in the "light duty to sedentary duty restrictions" which limited lifting to no more than ten twenty pounds [Bulloch, p. 16 17]
- 11. Dr. Bulloch and the FCE found that Rawls could sit for forty-five minutes to an hour and then would require a five to ten minute break of walking around and stretching before sitting for another similar period. [Bulloch, p. 31]
- 12. Rawls was taking pain medication when his patient profile was filled out and tests run in June 2004 at River Oaks Hospital, 108 miles from his Winnsboro, Louisiana home.
- 13. Rawls' June 2004 River Oaks Health System Patient Input Form, indicated that he had no hearing, visual or learning impairments, even though he was taking Darvocet, and that he was motivated to learn and his learning preferences were verbal and written. [Vohra, Ex. 4, p. 15].
- 14. Rawls was taking pain medication at each of his two or three visits with Dr. Rahul Vohra in Flowood MS, 108 miles from his home in Winnsboro, Louisiana.
- 15. Dr. Vohra, who performed an IME at the Order of the Workers' Compensation Commission, noted on December 1, 2003, that Rawls was "awake, alert and cooperative," even though Rawls was then taking Darvocet daily. [Ex. 2 to Vohra, p. 3]
- 16. Rawls was taking pain medication when his second Functional Capacity Evaluation was performed in October 2004.
- 17. Not one doctor, nurse or physical therapist suggested that Rawls was impaired by the taking of Darvocet.
- 18. Ameristar's witness testified that it was Rawl's treating physician's responsibility to determine whether Rawls could work while taking Darvocet. (Tr. p. 56).
- 19. Dr. Vohra, stated that Rawls could perform any job which came within the restrictions of the FCE (light work). [Vohra, p. 16].
- 20. Dr. Bulloch, Rawls' treating physician, in his deposition, stated that Rawls could perform any job which came within the FCE restrictions. [Bulloch, p. 30]
- 21. In response to Rawls' question specifically related to pain, Dr. Vohra stated that "the FCE takes into account his [Rawls'] pain levels as to how those pain levels would affect his ability to work." [Vohra, p. 26]

22. Rawls testified at the March 2003 hearing, with no evidence that he was in any way impaired, even though he was taking Darvocet and had driven for two hours from his home to the hearing site.

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