#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-WC-01434

## AMERISTAR CASINO-VICKSBURG EMPLOYER/APPELLANT

**AND** 

# LEGION INSURANCE COMPANY MISSISSIPPI INSURANCE GUARANTY ASSOCIATION CARRIER/APPELLANT

VS.

#### JAMES RAWLS CLAIMANT/APPELLEE

Appeal From The Circuit Court of Warren County, Mississippi

**BRIEF OF APPELLEE** 

DAVID M. SESSUMS VARNER, PARKER & SESSUMS, P.A. 1110 Jackson Street P.O. Box 1237 Vicksburg, MS 39181-1237 Telephone: 601-638-8741

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE
JAMES RAWLS

Facsimile: 601-638-8666

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-WC-01434

#### AMERISTAR CASINO-VICKSBURG EMPLOYER/APPELLANT

**AND**

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

In the present case no one disputes that James Rawls injured his back while working in the course and scope of his employment at Ameristar. No one disputes that his back condition lead directly to his back surgery. Two (2) competent physicians, one preeminent, testified that Mr. Rawls has a permanent physical and objectively confirmed injury to his back. (i.e.; either 10% or 23%) Both physicians confirm that he is required to take strong narcotic pain medication and will have to continue to do so into the indefinite future and probably the rest of his life. After coming up with a bogus job offer Ameristar balked (finally) at the idea of a dispatcher on strong narcotic pain medication when Leesha Heard pretended to not to know what Ameristar's policy or attitude would be about its employees working in such a demished capacity. (V.3 p.51-52)

In <u>Leigh v. Seekins Ford</u>, supra, Leigh injured his back while working for Seekins Ford and applied for worker's compensation benefits. Leigh argued that evidence of his debilitating pain and pain resulting medication kept him from working and rendered futile any efforts to find suitable employment. On appeal the Supreme Court of Alaska observed:

"Leigh's treating Arizona neurosurgeon, Dr. Stephen Ritland, wrote in December 1999, that, 'with the ongoing medication required and with the ongoing chronic pain and associated limitations, I do not believe that [Leigh] would be effectively employable.' The board also noted that 'numerous friends, family members and co-workers' testified about Leigh's pain and inability to work despite his motivation to work. Leigh took narcotic pain medication, and there was evidence that these medications prevented him from working." (36 P3d at p.218)

In remanding for consideration of the evidence relating to the effects of the pain medication the Alaska Court further stated:

"We therefore turn to the real crux of Leigh's appeal. Even if it does not create a presumption of compensability, evidence of Leigh's chronic pain and of the effects of pain medication remain relevant to determining by a preponderance of the evidence whether he is permanently and totally disabled. Leigh argued before the board, and offered evidence to support those arguments, that his chronic pain and the resulting pain medications prevented from obtaining employment." (136 P3d. at p.217)

In <u>Adams v. Prudential Insurance Co.</u>, of <u>America</u>, supra, Adams' physician wrote a letter to Prudential which might very well have been addressed to Ameristar in this case in which he stated:

"I am very impressed that your company feels that this gentlemen is not totally disabled. I have suggested to Sam that he obtain a letter from you and your company that you will take responsibility for any decision he makes, any injuries he suffers to himself or any injuries he causes for the company he works for, as well as take full and complete responsibility for any poor advice he gives or any problems he has driving to and from work, which again you so kindly suggest that he can do. The reason I think you people should take responsibility is because this gentlemen takes Oxycotin and Demarol on a daily basis and I think it is just sort of absurd for you people to say he can work while taking these medications. It is difficult for this young man to make to my office for any appointment much less do an 8 hour job." (280 F. Supp. 2d at p.738)

Perhaps, just perhaps, it is this sort of logic that was used by the Administrative Law Judge in formulating their opinion of September 16, 2005, and adopted by the Commission as the trier of fact.

In reversing Prudential's denial of benefits the <u>Adams</u> court noted" that Oxycotin impacts more than the ability to drive, or operate heavy machinery. Oxycotin may interfere with [ones] ability to do certain things that require your full attention." (280 F., Supp. 2d at.p.741) The Court

held in summary that:

"Plaintiff persuasively argues that Prudential improperly failed to consider the impact of the narcotic pain relievers Adams takes on a daily basis on his ability to work. Adams directs the Court to Godfrey v. BellSouth Telecomm., Inc., 89 F.3d 766 (11th Cir.1996) and Dirnberger v. Unum Life Ins. Co. Of Am., 246 F. Supp.2d 927 (W.D.Tenn.2002). In Godfrey, the court affirmed the district court's finding that a denial of benefits was arbitrary and capricious in part because the defendants "ignored the effects of the medication that [the plaintiff] had to take on a daily basis due to her condition." Godfrey, 89 F.3d at 758-59. The only rational explanation was that taking this into account would confirm that the Plaintiff was disabled. Id. at 759. Likewise, in Dirnberger, the court asserted that the defendant's denial of benefits was arbitrary and capricious based on the plaintiff's ability to return to his sedentary job due in part to the failure "to take into account what effect [the plaintiff's] medications would have on his ability to fulfill his job requirements." Dirnberger, 246 F.Supp.2d at 934, See also \*Stvartak v. Eastman Kodak co., 945 F.Supp. 1532 (M.D.Fla.1996) (holding that a plan administrator abused his discretion "in discounting the effects of potent anti-depressant and anti-psychotic medications that [the plaintiff] took on a daily basis to remain at work"). 280 F.Supp. at p.740

The Court in Adams felt so strongly about Prudential's refusal to consider the effects of the documented strong pain medication that it decided that an award of cost and attorneys fees should be assessed against Prudential to "deter Defendant and other like Defendants from ignoring the effects of daily doses of potent pain medication on a person's ability to work. "(280 F.Supp.2d at p.742)

It is too bad that added costs and attorneys fees cannot be assessed against the employer and carrier in this case. Certainly if Ameristar were to employ James Rawls as a dispatcher it would summarily discharge him if he opened a bottle of Jack Daniels and poured himself a drink of whiskey while dispatching vehicles engaged in transporting Ameristar's customers. For Ameristar to even suggest that it would not do otherwise if James sat at his desk and popped pain pills is obscene and the zenith of absurdity

The decisions of the ALJ, the full Commission and the Circuit Court were supported by not only common sense but also were based on more than substantial evidence and well settled law and must be affirmed.

#### **EFFORTS TO RETURN TO WORK**

It is here that the employer and carrier appear to base their main argument on appeal.

Mr. Rawls was 58 years old at the time of his undisputed injury on July 31, 2000. He was 63 years of age at the time the Administrative Law Judge issued their final opinion on September 16, 2005. He is now 65 years old. At time of hearing Mr. Rawls still had his 10<sup>th</sup> grade education (he did get a GED at night school so he could work for Ameristar), his 23% physical disability, still was prevented from lifting over ten pounds, was still on narcotic pain medication, could still only stay in one position for 15 to 20 minutes, still could not travel the 60 miles to and from his home and work with pain and rest stops, would have to take frequent breaks and would probably be able to sit for only 5 minutes and sometimes up to 35 minutes (according to Dr. Bulloch) yet the Employer and Carrier somehow contend that Mr. Rawls was employable.

In <u>Beckett v. Planters Compress & Bonded Warehouse Co.</u>, 65 So. 275 (Miss 1914) the Supreme Court stated the obvious when it held as a matter of law that:

"the law never imposes upon any one the doing of a vain and fruitless thing" 65 So. at 276

Through the years this rule has been repeatedly reaffirmed as the law in the State of Mississippi. Star Chevrolet Co., v. Green, 473 So. 2d 157 (Miss 1985) Fourth Davis Island Land Co., v. Parker, 469 So. 2d 516 (Miss 1985) Levy v. McKay, 445 So. 2d 546 (Miss 1984)

The factors to be considered and deciding whether a claimant has made an attempt to find employment are 1) economic and industrial aspects of the local community 2) the jobs available in the community and 3) the claimant's general educational background, including work skills and the particular nature of the disability for which compensation is sought. Merritt Distribution Services, Inc. v. Hudson's, 883 So. 2d 134 (Miss App. 2004)

In Merritt Distribution Services, Inc. v. Hudson's supra, the claimant was found by the

Administrative Law Judge to be permanently and totally disabled and on appeal the full commission adopted the Administrative Law Judge's findings and affirmed.

The facts in that case showed that Hudson drove trucks and during her course of employment fell on a concrete dock injuring her neck and back. Hudson eventually had two (2) surgeries and was kept on "heavy medication" for her injuries. Her physician assigned Hudson a fourteen percent (14%) impairment to her body as a whole and she was restricted to lifting no more than 20 pounds. Her physician was of the opinion she could not return to driving trucks.

A brief comparison of the above facts in <u>Hudson</u>, supra, demonstrate that they are almost identical to those found in the present case. James Rawls was admittedly injured, has a 10% to 23% impairment, cannot lift over 10 pounds and is on narcotic pain medications.

As in this case, the employer and carrier in <u>Hudson</u> claimed that Hudson just did not look for employment in a sufficient manner, claiming that Hudson made no real effort to find a job within her physical limitations and that the only inquiry she made was to satisfy the procedure requirements of filing her Complaint.

The evidence in <u>Hudson</u>, supra, indicated that Hudson applied only for trucking positions, claiming that was the only qualification she had. The Court of Appeals affirmed correctly noting that the Administrative Law Judge was aware of "the extent to which Hudson searched for employment and still found her permanently and totally disabled." 883 So. 2d at 137

Noting that the full commission as the finder of fact chose to adopt the Administrative

Law Judge's finding and conclusions the Court of Appeals in <u>Hudson</u> affirmed the award of total permanent disability.

In the seminal case of <u>Thompson v. Wells-Lamont Corporation</u>, 362 So. 2d 638 (Miss 1978) it was conceded that the claimant could not "return to her previous job" and the question involved was her ability to procure another job after reasonable efforts.

Upon making an evidentiary review of the facts the Court in **Thompson**, supra, stated:

"What constitutes a reasonable effort to obtain employment is a matter not of easy definition, and what might be a reasonable effort in one situation might not be so in another...Several factors may be relevant, including: the economic and industrial aspects of the local community, the jobs available in the community and surrounding area, the claimants general educational background, including work skills and the particular nature of the disability for which compensation is sought....It is uncontradicted that Mrs. Thompson, upon the <u>advice of her physician</u>, had to terminate her employment with Wells-Lamont...We reject any notion that the claimant must assume the burden of showing the absolute unavailability of suitable employment by contacting every possible employer in the area. As we have always held, our Workman's Compensation Statues must be liberally but fairly construed so as to carry out the beneficent purposes intended by the legislature. We cannot, and here do not attempt to, delineate any hard and fast rule as to how many or exactly what type efforts a claimant must make in every case in order to establish "disability" within the purvue of section 71-3-3(I), supra.

\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

The rule which we now adopt is: The claimant has the burden of proof to make out a prima facia case for disability, after which the burden of proof shifts to the employer to rebut or refute the claimants evidence...Whether the claimant has made out a prima facia case is a question to be decided by the trier fact on the evidence presented." 362 So. 2d at 640-641.

In this case the Administrative Law Judge quite correctly noted that because Mr. Rawls suffers from long term pain, which the Administrative Law Judge found to be confirmed by both Dr. Bullock and Dr. Vohra, and has to take narcotic pain medication coupled with muscle relaxers and membrane stabilizers that common sense "tells one that no employer will hire someone who is taking narcotic pain medication, coupled with muscle relaxers and membrane stabilizers. It is the opinion of the undersigned that Mr. Rawls simply cannot function in the work force while taking these types of medications." (V.2 p.80)

It is the rule that disability of a compensation claimant, once found to exist, will be presumed to continue until the contrary is shown, <u>Jackson Ready-Mix Concrete v Young</u>, 111 So. 2d 255 (Miss 1959) and both Dr. Vohra and Dr. Bulloch opined that Mr. Rawls' pain

medication is of a long term nature. There is no evidence to the contrary.

Perhaps the most resounding rebuke to the employers "failure to seek employment" argument is found in the case of <u>Pike County Board of Supervisors vs Varnado</u>, 912 So. 2d 477 (Miss App 2005) where the facts showed Varnado to be a sixty one year old resident of Pike County who was injured on the job on August 9, 1999, when he initially suffered an injury to his leg and ankle. After being treated for this injury Varnado developed a limp which in turn caused back pain resulting in his surgeon recommending back surgery, which Varnado declined.

Upon release of Varnado by his physician on April 11, 2000, Varnado's doctor placed him at maximum medical improvement with a forty pound lifting restriction and an hour long standing restriction. Varnado's doctor assigned him only a 7% physical impairment rating to the back. April 24, 2000, another of Varnado's physicians concluded that he had reached maximum medical improvement and stated that Varnado's "disability is no more than 3% "and instructed him to return on an as needed basis. Varnado's regular physician, (who did not even actually treat Varnado for the work related injury) stated "I do not feel that he is physically able to hold any type of job."

Varnado testified that he was told by Pike County that there were no light duty jobs available to him and Pike County countered by stating that Varnado had been offered and refused a dump truck driver position which Varnado testified he could not perform because of numbness in his legs and pain in his back.

The Administrative Law Judge, after considering the nature and severity to Varnado's impairment, his physical impairment rating and restrictions, Varnado's inability to return to any of his former occupations and other industrial related factors such as Varnado's age and work history, found that Varnado had suffered a 100% loss of wage earning capacity attributable to the work related injury of August 9, 1999.

The employer and carrier in Varnado appealed the Administrative Law Judge's decision to the Full Commission which adopted the findings of fact and the decision of the Administrative Law Judge and the Circuit Court of Pike County in turn affirmed the Full Commission.

On appeal, the Mississippi Court of Appeals directly addressed Pike County's argument that because Varnado testified he had never looked for work after being released by his doctors that he failed to establish a prima facia case for permanent total disability as required by Mississippi Workers Compensation Law.

On appeal, the Court of Appeals disagreed with Pike County stating:

"Varnado maintains that since there is substantial medical evidence that he is permanently, totally disabled and unfit for employment in any occupation, permanent total disability benefits may be awarded without reference to whether or not he sought other employment. In support of this argument, Varnado cites South Central Bell Telephone Co v Aden, 474 So. 2d 584 (Miss 1985)

\*\*\*

"We agree with Varnado that there are similarities between the medical evidence submitted to <u>South Central Bell Telephone Co</u> and the medical evidence offered here. However, we note that the precise issue raised here- that a claimant must seek and be refused other compable work before he can be adjudged to have suffered a 100% loss of wage earning capacity- was not raised in <u>South Central Bell Telephone Co.</u>

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